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Name:  Alexandra Times 

   Alexandra Standard 

Location:  Grant Street Alexandra 

Established: 1868 

Ceased:  Still running 

The first local paper was the Alexandra 
Times. The name was changed to the 
Alexandra Standard, which continues to this 
day. However an earlier version of the 
Mansfield Courier was also published in 
Alexandra for a brief period in the 1860s. 

The Alexandra Times newspaper was one of three early newspapers in Alexandra and 

was first established in 1868. At that time Alexandra was a very young township and its 

direction was still being driven by the earlier gold rush and a high number of miners 
were still living in and around the Alexandra District. The first publication (Alexandra 

Times) was edited by John Whitelaw, who had brought his printing press from Woods 

Point, where from 1864 he had previously published the Woods Point Times and from 

1865 the Woods Point Times and Mountaineer. 
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Alexandra's First Printing Press: 

The Alexandra Times newspaper was initially printed in a bark hut located at the rear of 

the Whitelaw's property The Rookery, near the corner of Downey and Myrtle Streets. 
John Whitelaw is always credited with ownership of the Alexandra Times although at 

various periods it was described as óWhitelaw & Sons.ô At significant functions though 

it was John that was lauded as the owner. However for the life of the Alexandra Times it 

was actually óprinted and published by Norman Whitelawô (Johnôs son) and for the first 

18 months it also stated that Norman was the óproprietor.ô 

 

 

 

John had previously been editor of the Mountaineer newspaper, which was owned by 

Alfred Golding from Jamieson at that time. The Woods Point Times was a competitor 

newspaper, however the town could not support two and they soon merged. As the 
mining boom declined, so did the profitability of the paper which led to its demise. 

 

John then moved to Alexandra and had the printing press transported from Wood Point. 

(Alexandra Standard, Friday 24 October 1930). But just prior to moving he had been 

elected as Mayor of Woods Point on 20 November 1867 and because of his ongoing 

fondness of the Woods Point District, he supplied his readers at Woods Point, Gaffneys 

Creek, Raspberry, Matlock, Jericho, Gooley's Creek and surrounding areas with the 
Alexandra Times in lieu of the Woods Point Times and Mountaineer to the end of the 

financial quarter. 

 

Before entering the publishing business, John had been an auctioneer, mining agent and 

businessman and even worked as a teacher in Sydney. Before his arrival in Australia he 

had even contemplated entering the clergy in the Church of Scotland. 

 

In Alexandra, the Whitelaw's initially released bi-weekly broadsheet issues of The 
Alexandra Times, and the first issue was given away for free. But that issue advised 

readers that from then on it would only be available by pre-paid subscription of 7s 6d (7 
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shillings and 6 pence) per quarter. As it was published twice weekly, a subscription 

would have worked out to be three and a half pence (threepence and a halfpenny) per 

issue. 
 

The advertisement read: 

 

NOTICE The first issue of this Paper will be delivered free of charge. All persons 

who wish to become subscribers will please forward their names and addresses 

to this office. The charge is 7s. 6d. per quarterðpayable in advance. 

 

 
In the Whitelaw's second edition they went into more detail about their need for 

subscriptions and how becoming financially viable was fundamentally important for a 

media publication. In this issue he also called on those who had received the first issue 

for free the previous week and had finished with it, to return it and he would buy it back 

for sixpence. This was necessary as the first free issue had been so popular with the 

general public that he had been unable to supply copies to all of his paid subscribers. 

 

At this time mail was infrequent and radio, telephone and the internet were yet to be 
introduced, so the availability of a local newspaper would have been an exciting event 

for the entire township. During this period, Gobur almost exceeded Alexandra in its 

mining popularity, and for a short time Whitelaw managed to operate a newspaper in 

that vicinity called the Gobur Standard. 

 

 

Mansfield Courier in Alexandra in 1868 
Local oral and written history generally promotes the idea that Alexandra only had two 

newspapers; namely the Alexandra Times and its immediate successor the Alexandra 

Standard. However research in June 2018 uncovered evidence that this was not the case. 

Alexandra had actually had three official newspapers during its life-span. Around 

January 1868, the Mansfield Courier was invited (by local parties unknown) to publish 

a newspaper in Alexandra. This was not the Courier that we know today, but a much 

earlier Mansfield Courier which had commenced publication in late July 1867. This 

paper was promoted as a strictly liberal and independent publication, and the proprietor 
and journalist of this short-lived publication was Mr Adam Burgess. 
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Having received an invitation to publish a newspaper in Alexandra, the Mansfield 

Courier had first respectfully declined. However they later reconsidered, commencing 

at Alexandra at a similar time to Whitelaw. If either was aware of the otherôs intention in 
those earliest days is not known. 

 

This is noted in a óLetter to the Editorô in the second issue of the Alexandra Times 

objecting that the Mansfield Courier was about to setup a publication at Alexandra in 

direct opposition to the newly established Alexandra Timesðjust after the Times had 

commenced 2 June 1868. 

 

The launch of the Mansfield Courier into the Alexandra newspaper market was 
criticized locally, as it was thought that having two newspapers in one small rural 

township would cause division and ruin the chances of either publication being 

profitable. (Alexandra Times, Friday 12 June 1868). The worry was short-lived however, 

as the Mansfield Courier ceased publication in Alexandra after a few issues and closed 

at Mansfield about the same time, making way for the Mansfield Independent mid 1869. 

 

It is worth clarifying that the Mansfield Courier that came to Alexandra in 1868 was not 

the Mansfield Courier as we know it today. The current day Courier had not 
commenced publication in 1868 when the Mansfield Courier was operating in 

Alexandra. In fact the Mansfield Independent, which predated the current day Mansfield 

Courier, had not even commenced publication at that time. Their first issue was 

published on 5 June 1869, nearly a year after the first Mansfield Courier had closed. 

 

 

Change of Address for the Alexandra Times 
By September 1868, the Alexandra Times business was no longer being run from The 

Rookery. It was now operating from Milligan's Commercial Hotel (formerly the Power's 

Hotel) on Grant Street at Alexandra. It is not known if the printing press was also 

relocated to the hotel. An advert found in the Alexandra Times dated 1 September 1868, 

informs us that the 'Alexandra Times Printing Office' was operating from the premises, 

along with a number of other businesses which included the: Mining Warden's Office, 

Office of Solicitor Frederick Coster, Mining Agency, Electoral Office and Office of 

Auctioneer and Engineer Mr W Downing. However operating from the premises did not 
necessarily mean the printing press was also located there. 
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Early records inform us that the Alexandra Roads Board held their first meeting in a 

small room at this hotel and that by early July 1868, the Milligan's Commercial Hotel 

had been purchased by Cooper and Perkins, owners of the Eldorado Hotel located next 
door. They renamed the property 'Temple Court', and converted it into offices. 

 

The 1869 Godfrey Creek Standard Newspaper 

While the Whitelaw's were busy with the Alexandra Times, They managed to start a 

second broadsheet newspaper at Godfrey's Creek (later named Gobur). The first issue of 

the Godfrey's Creek Standard newspaper was published by John on 2 October 1869 and 

printed on his printing press at Alexandra (Alexandra Times, Friday 24 September 

1869). In announcing this new publication, he stated: 
 

'The growing importance of Godfrey's 

Creek has rendered it desirable that the 

place should be represented by a paper of its 

own. Until suitable premises can be erected, 

arrangements have been made with us for 

printing The Godfrey's Creek Standard, 

the first issue of which will appear on 
Saturday, 2nd October.' 

 

 

Later, in the final issue of the Alexandra 

Times on 30 June 1877, Whitelaw 

confirmed that he had produced (not just 

printed) the Godfrey's Creek Standard.  
 

A lack of newspaper records indicate the Godfrey's Creek Standard only existed for a 

few months, and no issues are known to exist today. In fact, a few cross-references in 

other early publications are all that we have to confirm it ever existed at all. 

 

 

Change of Address 

The Alexandra Times continued to operate from the former Milligan's Hotel (now 
Temple Court) until 1871. Around this time the Alexandra Times offices were relocated 

back to Downey Street, and possibly back to The Rookery. No reason is given for this 
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move, though if the business did go back to The Rookery, then maybe John was cost 

cutting. He may have even built a more suitable structure on his property which housed 

his printing press. 
 

 

Making their mark  

The Whitelaw's were in part responsible for bringing issues related to the quickly 

growing township to the attention of the public. Numerous editorials over the years of 

his tenure show that the Whitelaw's agitated the need for: a hospital (when the closest 

hospital was at Woods Point), a library, the establishment of Local Government, and a 

reliable source of water. At that time water had to be carted from the Goulburn River or 
taken from the dirtier and less reliable UT Creek. 

 

But the Whitelaw's were not always correct in their beliefs and public assertions. For 

instance, it once proposed that Gobur would become the new headquarters of the 

municipality, due to its flourishing gold mining industry. However it was Gobur that 

eventually declined and Alexandra that ultimately prospered when it transformed from a 

gold mining town into a significant agricultural and tourist centre. 

 
 

Final Issue of the Alexandra Times 

In the Whitelaw's last editorial in the final issue of his newspaper published on 30 June 

1877, the end of the Alexandra Times was announced and the new owner James John 

Hamilton McColl was introduced. The Whitelaw's further informed their subscribers 

that the new publication would be called the Alexandra and Yea Standard. They 

reflected on how the newspaper had 600 subscribers in its early days, and reminded 
their readers about the early days when the Mansfield Courier published in opposition to 

his paper. The editorial was signed Whitelaw and Sons, but it is likely that Norman may 

have been the only son still in Alexandra.  

 

During John's time at the Alexandra Times, he was actively involved in public affairs, 

including serving as a Shire Councillor from 1873-79 and Shire President for the 

1873/74 term. After the sale of the Alexandra Times, he moved to Melbourne with his 

wife but later returned to Alexandra. In appearance, John was described as a large jovial 
and jolly fellow. It was said that he was a great storyteller and that he always wore a 

grey top hat (stove-pipe bell topper) when in the street. He carried a walking stick in his 
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later years, which was replaced with a large umbrella when raining. 

 

 

Second owner: James John Hamilton McColl 

The Alexandra Times was purchased by James John Hamilton McColl in mid 1877 and 

he changed its name to the Alexandra and Yea Standard. The first edition was published 

on 7 July 1877. It is interesting to note that McColl chose not to continue with the issue 

numbering system from the Times and instead chose to call his first edition 'Issue One'. 

Together with the change of the publication's name, it appears that McColl considered 

his new newspaper to be a different publication from its predecessor (Whitelaw's 

Times). The last issue of the Alexandra Times was issue 547, published on 30 June 1877. 
 

Although McColl considered his paper to be a new newspaper, the masthead did include 

the words 'with which is incorporated the Alexandra Times'. So it was not a complete 

clean break from the past. He did however state how his new paper would have an extra 

column per page, so presumably the dimensions of the newspaper changed at point. He 

also advised that he would be able to include the latest Telegraph News right up until an 

hour before publication, which was an incredible feat. 

 
Notably, James was the first to introduce single-issue sales of the newspaper, instead of 

the normal quarterly subscription which had applied to the Alexandra Times up until 

then. The single issue price was sixpence, and the subscription was 6 shillings and six 

pence (6s 6d) per quarter, or one pound per annumðpayable in advance.  

 

In late 1879 James changed the weekly publication date from Saturday to Friday, also 

reducing the quarterly subscription to five shillings. This represented the first reduction 
in the subscription in the newspaper's history. 

 

During his tenure, the paper colloquially became known as the Standard, and in April 

1878 he relocated the office to the property formerly known as Brook's Bakery in Grant 

Street (near where in 2018 Burnsies Pizza shop operates). 

 

During the later stages of his tenure he found that publishing a newspaper was diverting 

too much of his energy away from his Stock and Station Agency and his farming 
interests. As a result, he issued his last newspaper on 14 May 1880 (issue 149), selling 

the business to his brother-in-law Samuel Allardyce. A Weekly Times article in 1930 tells 
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us that AM (Toby) Curtis contributed articles to the paper, and even suggests that he 

took up the editorship of the paper in conjunction with his auctioneering business. 

 
James John Hamilton McColl was the Great Great Uncle of current day Alexandra 

identify Dorothy (Dot) Jackson (nǟe) McColl. 

 

 

Third owner: Samuel Allardyce (1880-1883) 

Samuel Allardyce served as Shire President from 1874-77 and operated the Alexandra 

Standard newspaper for around three and a half years. His first issue was published on 

21 May 1880 (issue 150) and his final issue was published on 19 October 1883 (issue 
234). During his tenure the issue numbering system fell into disarray, however it was 

still issued weekly and published on Fridays. On 5 May 1882 Allardyce reduced the 

single issue price to 4 pence per issue, a significant reduction. 

 

On 4 July 1881, William Dixon was appointed General Manager of the Standard by 

Samuel Allardyce. A report in the Weekly Times in 1930 suggests that Dixon had in fact 

worked as a compositor during McColl's time as proprietor and was later the editor and 

manager of the paper, although this has not been confirmed. 
 

On 18 August 1882 Samuel Allardyce appointed Joseph Allport Gordon as Manager of 

the Standard Newspaper office. Gordon may even have taken editorial control of the 

newspaper, however this is not known for sure. The paper continued to be published and 

printed under the name of Samuel Allardyce as proprietor until 19 October 1883. 

 

Like his predecessor and relative (James McColl), Allardyce was not a full-time 
newspaper proprietor. In fact his farming interests often seemed to take precedence over 

publishing. During his proprietorship, he also operated the busy Riversdale property on 

the Goulburn River, as well as maintaining his farming property in Yanco, NSW, which 

he also named Riversdale. 

 

 

Fourth owner: Joseph Allport Gordon (1883-1901) 

Joseph Gordon, an Englishman born in Nottingham, England, migrated to Australia via 
America. He published his first issue of the Standard on 26 October 1883, under the 

name 'Messrs Gordon & Co. for the proprietors'. 
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Gordon and Co was apparently a partnership between him and a silent partner Walter G. 

Moon. Upon later leaving the District, Moon was replaced by popular local pharmacist 

Frederick Wheeler. Then in 1887 Gordon became the sole owner of the company. 
 

On 30 November 1883, Gordon attempted to resolve the numbering of issues which had 

fallen into disarray during Allardyce's time. He did this by titling the current issue 'New 

Series - Vol.2 No.78'. As this was only six weeks since Allardyce's last issue of the 

newspaper, it was hardly the 78th issue by Gordon & Co. However this numbering 

would make more sense if Gordon is counting back to his time of commencement as 

manager with Allardyce. If so, this suggests that Gordon may have had substantial 

editorial control of the Alexandra Standard from that time. 
 

In that same issue, Gordon made a subtle change to the masthead of the newspaper 

when he included the words 'Established 1864'. However, this is plainly incorrect, as 

records show us that Whitelaw commenced the Alexandra Times in 1868. But Whitelaw 

had commenced the Woods Point Mountaineer/Times in 1864 and this may have been 

the source of the error. 

 

On 1 January 1885 Joseph married local Alexandra girl, Mary Ann Elizabeth Bough, the 
only child of Edward Bough of Alexandra. They had three sons: Percy, Victor and Clive. 

 

In mid 1887 the newspaper was expanded to eight pages. However by early 1890 it had 

reverted to four pages, and later in 1890 it was back to eight pages. It seems to have 

varied between four pages, four pages plus a four page supplement and eight pages over 

the next few years. 

 
This property was purchased by Joseph Allport Gordon and R Irvine earlier on 

9 October 1889, but this does not imply that the office occupied the site immediately. 

 

About 1891, Gordon made the move from the former Brook's Bakery building in Grant 

Street, moving across the road into a wooden building which occupied the lot between 

the Library (its first stage) and the Ultima Thule Creek (UT Creek). The first stage of 

the library was built in 1883 and the second stage was built in 1891. Interestingly, 

during the building of the second stage of the Library, some of Gordon's employees 
placed a time-bottle in the cavity in the northern double brick wall of the new stage two. 

The bottle contained slips of paper signed by JA Maddeford (Compositor), AT Hall, G 
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Armstrong (both described as boys) 

and dated 'March 5 1891'. This time 

capsule was discovered during the 
building of the more modern stage 

three of the library, which occupied 

the site of the earlier wooden 

Standard Office which relocated 

further north up Grant Street, on the 

other side of the UT Creek. More on 

the time capsule can be found in our 

Artworkz factsheet which was 
produced in partnership with the 

Murrindindi Library Services. 

Download it from our website www.esplash.me. 

 

In late May 1892 the Standard, together with the Mansfield Courier, inserted a colour 

lithographic supplement. The supplement was a fold-out sheet showing streetscapes of 

both Mansfield and Alexandra and the major facilities and businesses in both towns. At 

the time it was not possible to directly print photos onto newsprint, but lithographic 
(engraved) reproductions, both Black and White (B&W) and sometimes colour, were 

becoming available. The supplement was produced by Messrs Rider & Mercer of 

Ballarat, and was prepared from photographs taken by Mr W Mercer on a visit to the 

District. The cost of the supplement was covered by payment of a fee to Rider & Mercer 

by the featured businesses, who treated it as a form of advertising. The poster was also 

available separately for purchase. In recent years the Mansfield Historical Society has 

reproduced a smaller version in B&W only. There is however a rare, original colour 
poster, framed and mounted in the Alexandra Library. 

 

Ownership of the paper between 1883 and 1901 has always been credited to Joseph 

Gordon (albeit with a few early partners), however between Feb 1892 and its sale in 

1901, the paper was actually being produced 'for M A Gordon, sole proprietress, at her 

registered officeé' It is possible that this was a legal tactic by the Gordons to avoid any 

perception of conflict of interest, as in January 1892 Joseph had been appointed Shire 

Secretary. Certainly during this time Joseph had little apparent involvement, in fact a 
succession of names appear as being the printer and/or publisher. For the first 12 months 

of Mary Annôs proprietorship, the paper was printed by James Maddeford and published 

Page 13 

H I S T O R Y  

http://www.esplash.me


Page 14 

HISTORIC 

FACTSHEET 

by Mary Ann. However from 1893 onwards even the publisher role was undertaken by 

others, but still had Mary Ann as sole proprietress. Names that appear as óprinter and 

publisherô are Francis Turnley, George Buckleton, James Maddeford and P Underwood. 
 

It is noticed that in December 1898 that the paper was being printed and published by 

Maddeford 'for the lessee'. It is commonly thought that following owner TA Fox leased 

the paper from November 1900 until he was able to purchase the business. But is he in 

fact the lessee referred to in 1898? 

 

Gordon then left the District for Melbourne circa 1901, where he died 18 years later. 

 
 

Fifth owner: Thomas Albert Fox (1901-1919) 

Unlike the previous owners, Thomas was a professionally trained newspaper printer 

who served his apprenticeship in the Western District of Victoria. During his long 

career, Fox worked for newspapers in both Melbourne and rural areas of Victoria. This 

included the editorship of a new bi-weekly newspaper in Omeo in late 1893. 

 

Thomas and his family left Melbourne and moved to Alexandra in March 1883 when he 
was 28 years old. He became the manager of the Standard, for Mr JA Gordon for a 

number of years, before returning to Melbourne around Christmas 1888. 

 

He then returned to Alexandra in 1901, taking over the editorship of the Standard. He 

initially leased the operation from Gordon & Co., and he later purchased both the 

business and the freehold circa 1906. However, like his predecessor he was printing and 

publishing the paper 'for the proprietress'. This implies that perhaps for legal reasons, 
the newspaper was in her name rather than in his. 

 

In 1910 he published an advertisement Advertise & Prosper ï Here are sixteen good 

reasons why you should advertise. Then in 1912 he published a full length, double 

column advertisement on: 

(1) General Printing (why businesses need printed letterheads, invoice books etc). 

(2) Advertising (why businesses need to). 

(3) How no resident of the district CAN AFFORD to be without his district local paper. 
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Thomas remained as editor and proprietor until his passing in January 1919, aged 63. 

His widow continued to operate the newspaper, although it was printed and published 

by Jeffrey Arnot on her behalf, until the end of April 1820 when Mr JT Guthridge of 
Seymour took over the business. 

 

 

Sixth owner: Joseph Thompson Guthridge (1920-1949) 

Like the previous owner, Guthridge was also trained in the art of publishing, having 

served his apprenticeship with Sidney Gullett at the Lancefield Mercury. The Gullett 

family was prominent in the newspaper world. Henry served as editor of the Sydney 

Morning Herald and Philip was a well-known Melbourne based journalist, and 
afterwards editor of papers at both Hamilton and Ballarat. Prior to Lancefield, Sidney 

had been with papers at Tatura and Woodend. Young Joseph was certainly in the right 

place to learn his trade. 

 

In 1909 Guthridge produced a small pamphlet óThe Stone Age: and the Aborigines of the 

Lancefield Districtô. The Governor General visited the indigenous quarries at nearby Mt 

William and Josephôs pamphlet was ómuch appreciatedô. 

 
Guthridge worked in SA, NSW and rural Victoria before coming to Alexandra from 

Seymour. His first issue of the Standard was published in May 1920. He joined the 

newspaper at a time of rural recovery following the end of World War I. It was also a 

time of accelerated construction on the Sugarloaf Dam, a dam being built near present 

day Eildon, for irrigation of the downstream flat lands of the Shepparton area. In late 

1920 Guthridge published a number of articles about the ósafetyô of the new dam and 

spillway. Whilst stating that he was not intending to scare, 'but it is our duty, on all 
occasions, to draw attention to matters which may beneficially or injuriously affect the 

interests of the public generally, and this district particularly'.  

 

His first issue of the Standard was published on 7 May 1920. Two weeks later he noted 

that 'éThe "heading" used on the title page of the Mountaineer is still at the Standard 

Office, but with the high price now ruling for lead, we are inclined to think that it is 

about due for a trip to the melting pot'. Then on 26 March 1926 he mentioned that 

Whitelawôs old printing press that had been carted from Woods Point 'éis now resting 
in the backyard at the Standard Office'. Obviously some modernization had occurred. 
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Guthridge guided the newspaper through the time of the Great Depression, a period of 

austerity and shortage. Later during WWII, the public and the newspaper encountered 

rationing. Amongst other things, rationing affected petrol, thus inhibiting vehicle 
movement and travel, and newsprint. In the latter, the Standard was somewhat lucky, as 

in 1941, when subjected to a limited quota, Guthridge announced that due to 'foresight, 

we have stockséto carry us on for twelve months'. He advised that some of the stock 

dated back to the 1935ï36 Abyssinian War. 

 

Following the end of the war, Guthridge was beginning to ail. By 1948 he was working 

only part-time, having returned to his birthplace, Lancefield. It seems that the Standard 

was now being effectively managed by his long-time friend and employee Stanley 
(Bon) Hewitt. 

 

Due to his literary interest, Joseph had been Secretary of the Library Committee for over 

25 years and an active member of other organisations, especially St. Johnôs Anglican 

Church. He was afforded two separate functions in July 1948 to celebrate his career at 

Alexandra. 

 

The last issue of the Standard by Joseph Guthridge was published on 29 July 1949. He 
had announced the sale of the business to Bon Hewitt two weeks earlier. 

 

 

Seventh owner: Stanley (Bon) and Dorothea (Dolly) Hewitt (1949-1958)  

Bon Hewitt had already spent 28 years working at The Standard when he took over 

ownership in 1949. The previous proprietor, Joe Guthridge, was both friend and mentor 

to Bon and had even acted as MC at Bon and Dolly's 1929 wedding. 
 

Bon had great organizational skills and was active in the community, often as secretary 

and highly skilled fundraiser for numerous bodies. 

 

Whilst working for Guthridge in the 1930s, Bon occasionally represented the newspaper 

at events and functions. This became much more frequent by the mid 1940s and after 

1945 or thereabouts, it seems that he was effectively in charge, as Guthridge was 

spending more time in his original hometown of Lancefield. Guthridge was even 
farewelled from Alexandra in 1948, although it was another year before he sold to Bon 

and the paper commenced being published under the Hewitt name. 
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Bon's first issue was published on 12 August 1949. He made no immediate changes to 

the paper, either in its physical characteristics (still four pages, seven columns, and 

published on Friday) or in its editorial policy. He took over the paper at a time of change 
in the District: post war redevelopment and immigration, farm mechanization, the 

gradual end of rationing, and the building of the Large Eildon Dam and expansion of the 

electricity networkðwhich saw an influx of migrant labour to the District. However, 

this also coincided with a credit squeeze in the early 1950s, although this was not as 

severe as the 1930's Depression which Bon and Dolly had also lived through. 

 

Bon unfortunately passed away in July 1955, aged 54 years. The paper was then run by 

his wife Dolly and daughter Mary (Mrs Mary Bradley) until 1958. During this time the 
Alexandra & District Hospital burnt down (May 1957), destroying the building that Bon 

had worked so hard to raise funds for over 18 years before. 

 

 

Eighth owner: 'Thos. Page and Son' (1957-1986)  

When the widowed Emily Ann Page and her adult sons Albert Edward (Bert) Jnr and 

Thomas John (John) Page arrived in Alexandra, the boys represented the fourth 

generation of the family publishing business. 
 

Thomas Page Snr founded the Tarnagulla Courier in 1864. An asthmatic, he passed 

away at his residence 22 December 1875. Son Joseph operated the business in the late 

1870s until his passing in 1884 from consumption, at age 24. His brother Thomas Jnr, 

who was born circa 1861 in a house occupying the site of what is now the Royal 

Exhibition Building in Carlton, then continued with what was by then known as the 

Tarnagulla and Llanelly Courier. 
 

In 1910, whilst still running the Courier, Thomas Jnr founded the Quambatook Times, 

and in 1912 entered a partnership with a Dr Rinder, and they operated newspapers 

around Kerang, Boort, Ultima and Quambatook. In 1912 Thomas sold the Courier to 

Mr A Taysom of Inglewood. 

 

In 1914 the partnership was dissolved and Dr Rinder went on to operate his own 

newspapers, whilst the Page family continued with the Quambatook Times and the 
Chillingollah Star. In 1920 the Page family also opened the Manangatang Courier. 

Thomas Jnr was active in local affairs and was awarded Life Governorship of the 
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Inglewood Hospital in 1918. He had earlier been Superintendent of the Tarnagulla 

Presbyterian Sunday School and a Councillor of the Borough of Tarnagulla. 

 
Thomas Jnr passed away in 1939, having remained very close to the business. By now 

the business was being operated by his only son Albert Robert (Bert) Snr Page. 

Bert Snr had been born at Tarnagulla around 1890, and in 1923 married school teacher 

Emily Ann Cottrell (the Cottrellôs had farming interests just north of Quambatook). 

They had three children: Albert Edward (Bert) Jnr (b22 May 1925), Thomas John (John) 

(b21 May 1927) and Ethel (Beth) Rosemary (b28 July 1935). Both Bert Jnr and John 

were to enter the printing industry. 

 
Bert Jnr left Kerang High School after completing his Intermediate Certificate in 1941 

and worked in the family business. In 1943 just after his 18th birthday, he joined the 

RAAF and served as a Leading Aircraftman in radar installations along the far North-

West coastline of Western Australia. Following War Service he returned to the business 

in early 1946. Bert was mechanically minded and enjoyed tinkering with machinery, 

radios, clocks and cameras. 

 

John was more academically inclined, frequently ótoppingô his class at Kerang High 
School. Against the wishes of the Headmaster, he entered the family business in 1943 

after gaining his Leaving Certificate. For three months his father sat him at the Linotype 

typesetting machine (which has a keyboard quite different to a typewriter), until the 

finished type-block was being turned out directly from his brain without him thinking of 

what the hands were doing! 

  

Bert Snr passed away in 1949 aged 59, and his sons continued the business under the 
guidance of their mother. (Mrs Page penned a popular column under the heading Mother 

Careyôs Chickens). Bert Snr had been Secretary of the Quambatook Agricultural Society 

for many years and was prominent in Freemasonry.  

 

In June 1957, Mrs Page, under the family business name óThos. Page & Son,ô purchased 

the Alexandra Standard and initially she and her eldest son Bert ran the paper. John 

remained at Quambatook until September when they sold their interests there to Mrs 

RM Richardson of the Charlton Times. He then made the move to Alexandra. 
 

They subtly changed the title of their new acquisition to the Alexandra and Eildon 
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Standard and set about modernizing the ageing equipment, which took a number of 

years. In 1969, in the Centenary issue for the Alexandra Shire, they announced ómore 

modern machineryô had been installed in the past few years and that óplans are 
underway for building changesô (the timber building was then one of the older in the 

town, and it would have been generous to even describe it as ramshackle). The early 

1970s saw the building totally replaced by a modern building constructed from concrete 

brick blocks. 

 

Bert was most at home with the machinery; maintaining and operating the Linotype and 

printing presses, although he also reported on Council news, and his photographs of 

functions and sporting events were regularly published. John was more the business 
manager, reporter and editor, but he also took his turn on the Linotype as needed, to 

keep the type-blocks appearing in time to meet deadlines. A jocular comment (in a poem 

published under the nom-de-plume Gringo) was that Bert was often to be seen in blue 

overalls and to ówave an oily rag to make the presses humô, whilst John in his ósmart 

grey suitô was óa Journo to a teeô.  

 

Generally Bert did the technical work such as setting up the type and blocks in a frame, 

which was page size for the Standard. This was then put on a flat bed printing press 
which printed the Standard two pages at a time. He later operated the Linotype machine 

which produced the type for news items, stories or advertisements, in preset column 

widthsðusing a hot lead and zinc mix. After printing the paper, the type was melted 

down and reused again and again. 

 

By the early 1980s they had installed a óweb offsetô printing press. This was a major 

improvement in technology for the Standard, which allowed a simpler style of printing 
plate to be prepared using a computerized typesetter (rudimentary by modern standards) 

and for printing to be conducted from a continuous drum of paper. 

 

In 1966 Bert married Marianne Broadhurst and they had two children: Suzanne and 

Thomas. Bert was a Past Grand Master of the Quambatook Masonic Lodge, and 

continued his association with Freemasonry at the Alexandra Albert Edward Lodge. He 

joined Rotary (later awarded a Paul Harris Fellow for his outstanding contribution to the 

community) and was a member of the Gobur Rifle Club. In retirement he was a 
volunteer worker at the Alexandra Opportunity Shop. 
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John, the more outgoing of the two, remained single until 2003 when he married widow 

Wilma Hickson (née) Cameron. Wilma had known the family since her childhood days 

at Quambatook, where she was a school friend of Bert and Johnôs younger sister Beth. 
John played tennis and in later years golf. It has been suggested that Johnôs main hobby 

was his work! 

 

It is recognized that Bert and John did much good work óbehind the scenesô and were 

óthorough gentlemenô. They had a policy of not reporting local Court news, nor of being 

critical of locals, no matter their status; all were entitled to some privacy. They invited 

local news items for publication, and many such reports (especially sporting results) 

would often be printed under nom-de-plumes such as IM Possible, Jack Hi, Nix, Nan, 
Bald Tyre, Cyclops, Omark, Fast Wheels, Bias, and Heckle & Jeckle. Football 

associated nick-names were a little more obvious: Shinboner, Green & Gold, Rebel, 

Villain and Purple & Gold. 

 

In August 1986 the Standard was sold to Geoff and Carol Heyes and Geoffôs sister 

Jenny Smith. This ended 122 years (and four generations) of Page family ownership of 

newspapers. 

 
They received many letters of congratulation upon their retirement, including a 

treasured one from Tom Dignam, the former publisher of the Yea Chronicle thanking 

them for their friendship, support and assistance over many years. At the annual 

Australia Day celebrations in 1987, Bert and John were jointly named as Citizen of the 

Year by the Alexandra Shire. 

  

Mrs Emily Page passed away at Alexandra on 22 November 1991 aged 96, and was 
returned to Quambatook where she is buried with her husband, amongst other Page and 

Cottrell family members. 

 

Bert passed away on 10 March 2010 aged 85 and is buried at the Alexandra Cemetery. 

Marianne passed away on 18 March 2017 and was interred with Bert at Alexandra. 

 

John aged 91 is living in care at Darlingford Upper Goulburn Nursing Home, where he 

is visited by his loving wife Wilma on a regular basis. 
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Ninth owner: Heyes Family/ Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd (1986-2011) 

Geoff Heyes and his sister Jenny Smith, together with their respective partners Carol 

and Gary took over the Standard from the Page family on 29 September 1986. Geoff 
and Jenny came from a printing background as their father Ken, a former electrician, 

was largely responsible for the rapid growth of Progress Press in Melbourne where he 

was Managing Director. Progress Press operated a large national print and distribution 

network and later merged with the Leader Newspaper Group, publishing Melbourne 

suburban newspapers. The combined group was later purchased by the Murdoch 

publishing empire. 

 

Daughter Jenny was a receptionist for a Melbourne accountant until the 1980s when her 
father Ken purchased a hobby farm at Merton. Jenny and husband Gary (a motor 

mechanic) moved to Merton and ran the property for Ken. 

 

Geoff was a Primary School Teacher for two years, and then joined Progress Press in a 

combined Sales and Production role. After the takeover by the Murdoch group, Geoff 

and wife Carol spent a few months in Brisbane setting up a printing business for the 

new owners. They then found it hard to ófit inô when they returned back to Melbourne. 

They then approached the Mansfield Courier and a partnership was purchased, which 
lasted for about three years. 

 

In 1986 and out of work, Geoff fortuitously received a phone call from Bert Page, 

saying that he and brother John were looking to retire. To quote Geoff: óThatôs where 

the real adventure beganô. 

 

At the Standard Office, Jenny was Office Manager, whilst Geoff was the Journalist, 
Editor and Publisher, and also managed the printing process. Although John Page had 

retired when they sold to the Heyes family, his brother Bert continued to work part-time 

with the Heyes for nearly ten years. He mainly looked after the óphotographic 

departmentô, where he prepared photos for the printing process. 

 

The Heyes continued with the same policy as the Pagesðto be courteous, and avoided 

reporting on local Court matters. A submitted poem by óGringoô wondered óéwould 

Geoff and Jenny print our news, or heed our scribbled demands?ô The answer was soon 
plainðcontributions were welcomed, as in the past. 

 

Page 21 

H I S T O R Y  



Page 22 

HISTORIC 

FACTSHEET 

Many sports reports were published under nom-de-plumes: Chippy, Loose Man, Birdie, 

Faldo ï Double Trigger, Up & Down, Green 2, Short End, Cheers, Hacker, Puttamatic 

and Rebel. At the end of the 1988 football season, the paper thanked ET óTomô Murray 
and Norm White for their reports throughout the year and included a head and shoulders 

mini portrait of both! Tom (also popularly called óDocô) often had to have his reports 

severely pruned as they were almost a kick-for-kick description, especially if the 

Shinboners were in form! 

 

In 1988 the ownership was formalized into a new company formed by the Heyes family 

and called Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd. The masthead also underwent a subtle 

change to the Alexandra, Eildon & Marysville Standard. 
 

From 1988 until 2002, Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd partnered with Hartley Higgins in 

resurrecting the defunct Warburton Mail with a paper in Monbulk, The Guardian. They 

also published the Upper Yarra Mail in Yarra Junction and purchased Mountain Views in 

Healesville in 1996. 

 

Due to space constraints, the Heyes family sold the original Standard building at 49 

Grant Street to Tom and Maureen Pritchard, and purchased Redgate Nursery from 
Malcolm and Julie McKenzie at 43 Grant Street. After fitting out the building, the 

transfer of the printing machinery occurred in October 1989. 

 

In early 1993 the Yea Chronicle was purchased from Ash Long and included in the 

stable of Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd. The Yea office continued operating and 

submissions were received there, counter enquiries handled and articles prepared. 

However final layout and printing of the paper was now performed at Alexandra as Yea 
had no newspaper printing facilities. The Chronicle under Long had been printed at a 

number of locations under contract. 

 

The Heyes introduced desktop PCs into the business mid 1990s. The journalists used 

Microsoft WordÊ, and the compositors used Aldus PagemakerÊ and Corel DrawÊ 

software, printing to a 1,200 dpi B&W laser printer. 

 

Digital cameras came later. The first was a Kodak with about 400 dpi, which was 
adequate for newsprint, but the average phone camera in 2018 has much greater 

resolution! 
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Colour was introduced to the Standard on 18 November 2009. The front page included a 

colour photograph submitted by Karen Morrison of a Porsche Club outing to Buxton 

(Karen was later to be employed by the Heyes and worked in the office). When previous 
owner John Page saw the issue (which included photos from the annual Alexandra Show 

which had been held the weekend before) he is said to have commented ónice coloursô. 

The introduction of colour necessitated the paper being printed off-site, initially in 

Wangaratta. The Standard and the Chronicle have not been printed locally since that 

time. 

 

In July 2010 the freehold of the premises at 43 Grant Street was sold to local 

businessman Ian Newman, with a long-term lease back to Alexandra Newspapers Pty 
Ltd. Ian also purchased some of the older disused machinery along with the newspaper 

and photo files. (Ian is a local businessman owning several properties, a collector and 

dealer in old artefacts, and a member of the Alexandra Historical Society). 

 

In February 2011, Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd and its two newspapers were sold to 

the Mott and Yeates families who were another established newspaper business. They 

operated a number of publications under the óNewspaper Houseô banner. 

 
Geoff and Carol raised three sons: Michael, Jeremy and Declan, who were all educated 

at Alexandra and loved sport. Geoff and Carol were then necessarily involved with 

sporting clubs and school committees. Carol nursed at both Kellock Lodge and 

Darlingford Upper Goulburn Nursing Home and was a Board member of the Dame 

Pattie Menzies Centre. 

 

Jenny and Gary had two children: Janette and Matthew, and both attended the Alexandra 
Secondary College until heading to Melbourne for work. Gary was an active member of 

the CFA Bonnie Doon Fire Brigade, later transferring to Yarck Brigade. 

 

Following the untimely passing of Geoffôs wife Carol, he moved to the family holiday 

house at Phillip Island. Jenny and her husband Gary (who toiled in the print room of the 

Standard Office for many years and kept the old machinery working), now live at 

Kanumbra. They retain a close association with Merton and Bonnie Doon where they 

have many friends. 
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Tenth owner: Mott Family/ Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd (2011-present) 

Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd and their two papers (the Standard and the Chronicle) 

were purchased by the Newspaper House Group in February 2011. Newspaper House 
was itself owned by the Yeates and Mott families, the two families also being linked by 

earlier partnerships. Newspaper House was headquartered in Kilmore and published 

papers in lower Central Victoria. The Yeates & Mott partnership also has substantial 

publishing interests in East Gippsland. 

 

In 2016 the families reorganized their internal business structures and Alexandra 

Newspapers Pty Ltd is now largely owned by sisters Celina and Fiona Mott. The sisters 

are fifth generation newspaper owners. 
 

George Mott, a British newspaper proprietor, emigrated to Victoria with his wife and 

family and after some Melbourne and goldfields' experience founded the Border Post at 

Wodonga in 1856. He then had the Hamilton Spectator and was later a director of 

successful printers Gordon & Gotch. Three of his sons headed west and founded the 

first papers at both Kalgoolie and Coolgardie. 

 

Those sons later returned and formed the Border Morning Mail in 1903, replacing the 
defunct Post. One of the sons later went to Melbourne, purchased the Northcote Leader 

creating a sophisticated suburban newspaper chain. 

 

Successive generations of the family were involved with the Mail Group and the Leader 

Group. The Mail ownership remained within the Mott family for over 100 years, but 

was diluted with successive family heirs all holding shares, until it was purchased by the 

Fairfax publishing empire in 2006 for $150 million. The Leader group was later 
purchased by the Murdoch group. 

 

Interestingly, Clifton Athol (Clif) Mott resigned as editor of the Border Mail in the early 

1950s and in the late 1950s for a short period, farmed locally. The family is remembered 

by the current generation of the Webster, Dick and Coller families. 

 

In 1934 Clifton was recognised for his quick thinking when the Dutch DC-2 Uiver 

(Stork) become lost in a wild electrical storm. It lost communication and was drifting 
off course. Clifton proposed to Albury's electrical engineer to use the entire cityôs lights, 

to flash the Morse Code signal "ALBURY' , in the hope that the DC-2 would see the 
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lights. This was done and the plane was able to land at the Albury Race Course, thanks 

to his quick thinking. He appears in the Trompe L'oeil mural at the Albury Airport, 

commemorating the Uiver story. 
 

The fifth generation sisters Celina and Fiona Mott are not involved in day to day 

operations of the Alexandra Standard, however Celina is the publisher (in legal terms) 

and a Board Director of the holding company, Alexandra Newspapers Pty Ltd.  

 

Since taking over the Standard, there have been a few editors employed, however as at 

2018 Anne Richey has settled into the role over the past few years (Anne has a media 

background in television). 
 

Karen Morrison is the Office Manager who commenced with the previous owners, the 

Heyes family and is also a Board Director of the holding company. 

 

After purchasing the paper in 2011 the community was somewhat dismissive of the new 

owners (óbig townô newspaper owners). It was rumoured that the Standard would be run 

from an office in Kilmore and would no longer be local (untrue), and that the printing 

was being carried out at Bairnsdale (true). 
 

Seven years later (in 2018) and 150 years after Whitelaw created the Times/Standard, 

the paper is still being run locally and news articles, advertisements and photographs are 

still being prepared at the Alexandra office. 

 

The printing of the newspaper is performed offsite, however that commenced in 2009 

during the Heyesô ownership, not as a consequence of the Mott involvement. 
 

The company have updated some of the printing machinery and offer on-site printing of 

both B&W and colour posters and plans up to A1 size, as well as offering a general 

printing capacity for stationary, cards, magnets, brochures etc. 
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John was born in 1819, son of George Whitelaw of Kelvin Grove, Glasgow, United 
Kingdom. He migrated to Australia around 1840, possibly disembarking in Sydney as 
records show he was a teacher of over 60 pupils at Dunmore, NSW in 1838 and married 
Elizabeth (Eliza) Simpson on 16 July 1842 at Hopewell, NSW. 
 
By the early 1850s he was operating as a auctioneer in Bourke Street, Melbourne (opposite 
the General Post Office). He was President of Gisborne Roads Board and Schoolmaster 
there before moving to the Woods Point District during the Gold Rush there and was editor 
of the Mountaineer and later the merged Woods Point Times and Mountaineer newspaper 
as well as being elected the Mayor of Woods Point in 1867. Around 1868 as the Woods 
Point Gold Rush subsided, he moved to Alexandra where in June of the same year he 
established Alexandra's first newspaper, the Alexandra Times which operated from The 
Rookery, his property on the south east corner of Downey and Myrtle Streets. 
 
John served as an Alexandra Shire Councillor from 1873-79 and was Shire President in 

1873 and 1874. In 1874 he appeared as one of 21 men displayed on 
an Alexandra Fire Brigade poster and in June 1877 he sold the 
Alexandra Times to James John Hamilton McColl who renamed it the 
Alexandra Standard. John then returned to Melbourne where he 
purchased and ran the Carlton Gazette; until financial ruin. He then 
conducted agency work in Melbourne before returning to Alexandra 
with his wife. He went on to serve in the Shire for many years, was 
President of the Agricultural and Pastoral Association, President of 
the Upper Goulburn Valley Railways League, President of the 
Alexandra Cottage Hospital and Chairman and Correspondent of the 
School Board of Advice. 
 

In 1897 with declining health, he moved to Tasmania to live with his daughter Mrs McRae. 
At this time it is believed that he was the oldest serving Justice of the Peace in the Colony. 
His health subsequently improved in Tasmania and he lived until his death on 
19 September 1899. He was buried at the Sorell Cemetery in Tasmania. He was described 
as a large jovial and jolly fellow who was a great storyteller and always wore a grey top hat 
(stove-pipe bell topper) when in the street. He carried a walking stick in his later years, 
which was replaced with a large umbrella when raining. In 1922 local identity Mr AP 
Downey described John Whitelaw as a Scholar and a Gentleman in an article in the 
Alexandra Standard titled The Early Days. On 7 July 1876, John's daughter Gertrude 
Macrae christened a new bridge over the Goulburn River at Riversdale which was then 
called 'Whanregarwen Bridge, but was later renamed Riversdale Bridge. 

Courtesy Alexandra Fire Brigade 

J O H N  W H I T E L AW  
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James John Hamilton McColl (often known as JJ Hamilton McColl) was born in 1838 at 
Laggan, Invernesshire, Scotland, to parents John McColl (d1858 Sutherlands Creek, 
Victoria) and Margaret (nǟe) Gordon (d1879 Alexandra, Victoria). The family migrated 
to Australia in 1852, and James married Harriet Emily (nǟe) Kidgell (b1847, d1887) in 
1866. His father John died in 1858, and his mother Margaret, along with a few of his 
brothers, selected land at Acheron around 1870. 
 
James had at least eight siblings, including Gordon who died in an 1870's flood on the 
Goulburn River. Samuel Allardyce, who he later sold his newspaper to, married his 
sister Elspeth. James purchased the Alexandra Times newspaper, (Alexandra's first 
newspaper) in 1877 and renamed it The Alexandra & Yea Standard. The first issue of 
The Standard was published on 7 July 1877. On 13 December 1879, John announced 
that in order to help his readers from Thornton and Darlingford to obtain their papers 
Saturday morning, he was changing the publication date of the newspaper from 
Saturday to Friday commencing in the new year. 
 
On 6 March 1879, Mr JJ Hamilton McColl was almost killed when his buggy 
overturned on the old cutting into Alexandra while proceeding to the Alexandra 
Cemetery for the funeral of his brother Mr Duncan McColl. Duncan had died on 
4 March 1879 when a miner's bucket was dropped down a shaft at the Acheron 'Fiery' 
Gold Mine, hitting him on the head. He had been working with his brother Peter McColl 
when the accident occurred. On 30 January 1880, we learn from an advertisement that 
Mr Walter G. Moon was acting as Manager and Collector for James's business. 
 
JJH McColl was a Councillor of the Alexandra Shire from 1879-1881 and a Stock and 
Station Agent as well as having local farming interests. After James disposed of the 
Standard to his brother-in-law Samuel Allardyce, he returned to farming, which at one 
time included managing Ulupna Station for Allardyce. Ulupna was earlier part of James 
Rutherford's Cobb and Co coach empire, and was where Rutherford had his homestead. 
 
James was managing Burra Burra Station, Burra, NSW, where he was found dead in a 
paddock. An inquiry before CJ Medcalf JP on 11 December 1901 found he had died of 
heat apoplexy. He was supposed to have died on 9 December. 
 
Note: We have used the name James John Hamilton McColl as this is how he described 
himself as publisher of the Standard. But his name was John James Hamilton McColl. 
Perhaps he adopted James to avoid confusion with his father, also named John? 

J . J .  HA M I LT O N  M C C O L L  
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Samuel was born in 1833 near Balmoral, Scotland and migrated to Australia circa 1853. The 
Allardyce family moved to the district in 1868 and Samuel became known as a respected 
citizen and progressive farmer who loved equine stock. He married Elspeth, sister of John 
McColl, the previous owner of the Alexandra & Yea Standard. Unfortunately three of his 
prize stallions died over the years, one a Clydesdale whilst being shipped from England in 
1880. He was the owner of the Riversdale Station for around nine years and was recognised 
as a highly capable farmer. The property at that time was 1500 acres and included 1000 
acres of river flats, with the rest being hill country. The river frontage was two miles long. 
He also had a sawmill at Crystal Creek, Whanregarwen. 
 
Not long after moving into the District he was elected a Councillor, serving from 1874-77. 
He also served as Shire President for a term in 1876, as well as being a Justice of the Peace. 
He was a strong advocate for the township and many of the successful beautification 
projects of his time were a result of his lobbying. In 1878 the family briefly left the district 
to concentrate on his farming interests in NSW. At a farewell dinner he was presented with 
an illuminated address to órecord our appreciation of your services in all matters involving 
the prosperity and progress of this districtéyou have secured the approval and respect of all 
those with whom you have had to dealô. Manager of the Union Bank, JP Bainbridge, said of 
Samuel ówe can ill afford to lose such menô. Although in later years he suffered Samuelôs 
wrath after a business dispute with the bank, unwisely saying ówhat has Mr Bainbridge done 
to advance the prosperity of this districtô? Samuel and his wife suffered severe burns in 
1878 when a house caught fire whilst visiting friends in Melbourne. 
 
He spent the latter half of 1879 touring Europe. For a brief period he was the owner of the 
Alexandra Standard and later took to the Letters to the Editor to conduct a running battle 
with a number of prominent townsfolk. He was a Show Steward and President of the Upper 
Goulburn Valley Pastoral and Agricultural Association. 
 
During the months leading up to his death, Samuel was managing the Cathkin Estate, but 
struggled with depression brought on by failed business arrangements. On the night before 
his death he was despondent and overly concerned with his monetary issues. Samuel 
committed suicide on 19 October 1895 and it is reported in the Alexandra Standard that his 
suicide startled town residents. He was buried with his wife at Alexandra. 

SA M U E L  A L L A R D Y C E  JP 
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Joseph Allport Gordon was born circa 1849 at Nottingham, England. He migrated to NSW in 
Australia in 1873 and arrived in Alexandra in 1877. Initially intending to mine, he ended up 
conveying the daily mail between Merton, Gobur and Alexandra for a time, before accepting a 
position as Manager for Mr TF Thompson at the Central Stores. He showed keen business 
abilities which characterised him through his life. 
 
He and Mr Moon, acquired the Alexandra Times, though Moon later sold his interests to 
businessman Frederick Wheeler, who continued with Mr Gordon for many years until they 
dissolved their partnership on 8 July 1887. Gordon continuing as sole proprietor until 1901. 
 
Joseph was actively involved in the Victorian Mounted Rifle Association after its formation, 
and was given a commission and appointed Lieutenant. In this capacity he suggested GA 
Cookson and D Murray (Manager of the National Bank) be sent to England to complete their 
training and act as Alexandra representatives. Both accepted and travelled to England. 
 
Joseph married Miss Mary Ann Elizabeth Bough in 1885, only daughter of Edward Bough of 
Alexandra. They had three sons: Percy F Graham (Manager of the Commercial Bank), Victor 
Edward (Registered Wool Buyer) and Clive Audley (Clerk in the Atlas Insurance Company). 
Clive had been on active service for the four years to 1919. Joseph was actively involved in 
the district and in 1885 was elected Local Auditor for the Shire. He then became returning 
officer until 1890. 
 

On the death of Mr AJ Moore, he was appointed Shire Secretary, which 
he held until he left Alexandra in 1901. He took a strong interest in the 
Alexandra Cottage Hospital and was Secretary for 11 years. He also 
served on the Agricultural Society Committee where he was Secretary 
for six years, as well as serving as Secretary of the Alexandra Free 
Library for 10 years. He was a member of the Dramatic Club of 
Alexandra, and along with his wife, was a musician. He was a member 
of the Alexandra Shire Band and the Alexandra Orchestra and a 
prominent member of St John's Choir. 
 
He left Alexandra for Melbourne 18 years before his death, worked for 

the Australian Paper Mills, and was identified with the choirs of St Silas Albert Park, St 
Andrews Middle Park and Christ Church St Kilda. Joseph died at his home at 30 Chancer 
Street, St Kilda on 24 December 1918 after a prolonged illness and was buried at the 
Alexandra Cemetery. Joseph was remembered as a genial, amiable and shrewd man who 
possessed qualities which made him a popular and successful commercial businessman. 

J O S E P H G O R D O N  

Courtesy Alexandra Fire Brigade 

https://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/57170221
https://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/64755502/6202680
https://trove.nla.gov.au/newspaper/article/64755502/6202680

























































































